联合国



经济及社会理事会

Distr. GENERAL

E/CN.4/2005/18/Add.6 4 March 2005 CHINESE Original: FRENCH

人权委员会 第六十一届会议 临时议程项目 6

种族主义、种族歧视、仇外心理和所有形式的歧视

当代形式的种族主义、种族歧视、仇外心理和相关的不容忍现象问题特别报告员 杜杜•迪埃先生提交的报告

增 编* **

访问尼加拉瓜

GE. 05-11768 (C) 110305 180305

^{*} 本报告的内容提要以所有正式语文分发。载于本报告附件的报告本身仅以原文 (法文)转载,并译成英文和西班牙文。

^{**} 本文件迟交,是为了列入最新资料。

内容提要

特别报告员于 2004 年 6 月 24 日至 7 月 13 日对中美洲地区进行了访问。他应危地马拉、洪都拉斯和尼加拉瓜政府之邀请访问了这三国。这次访问的目的是,特别报告员必须协助澄清这个地区特别突出的种族主义问题的两个重大因素: (1) 种族主义由来已久,且根深蒂固,奴隶和殖民制度观念深深打入社会结构; (2) 中美洲近代史中的政府暴力对历来遭受歧视的土著人民和非洲人后裔社区的冲击。这些国家人口组成相似,具有共同的历史和政治传统。这些国家正迈向和平建设,社会融合及加强民主,它们并特别注意族裔、种族和文化多样性的结构和管理。

特别报告员注意到在这三个国家存在着根深蒂固歧视的现实情况: (1) 贫困地区与土著人民和非洲裔人民地区之间令人不安的关联; (2) 代表这些地区的人参与权力机构——政府、议会、司法部门的人数寥寥无几,他们在媒体决策部门的比例同样微不足道; (3) 媒体只宣扬其民俗形象。

特别报告员还指出,这三个国家的当局和广大的老百姓在不同程度上对歧视如何普遍存在和根深蒂固都缺乏认识。

在对民间社会行动者的言论和各有关社区成员及代表的证词对比之后,特别报告员指出,危地马拉、洪都拉斯和尼加拉瓜这三国的社会对土著居民仍然充满种族偏见和歧视,这种偏见是从殖民征服和奴隶制度留传下来。在公开的种族思想基础上奴役这些人民和贬低其特性及文化的做法导致他们在政治、社会、经济及文化领域长期处于边缘地位。尽管这些国家宣告多文化原则,但其西班牙传统遗产和特点备受推崇,而土著或非洲裔传统遗产却被践踏,只当作民间风俗而已。在政治、文化及社会上对多种族现实情况的漠视表现于日常生活中,例如经常禁止进入公共场所的歧视行为。不准表达个人特性是最明显的歧视形式之一。在这些社区居住区的公共服务(尤其是教育、保健、司法)不足和没有推行真正的双语制客观地显示出这些民族的社会和文化一体化并未得到落实。因此,这些人口的保健、教育和住房指标低于其他人口的指标。

在尼加拉瓜,象洪都拉斯那样,政府认为本国没有种族主义和种族歧视。人口中由异族通婚所造成的族裔和种族复杂组合使歧视不大可能。相反的,土著人民和非洲裔人民的代表认为自己是种族主义和种族歧视的受害者。这些人民历来受到的歧视为困扰该国的政治暴力所加强,尤其是被尼加拉瓜内部冲突各派在政治、社会

和军事领域摆布他们。除其他外,他们的不满是由其文化特性和其土地权未获尊重、政府对他们生活的地区的投资少和他们在权力机关的任职人数寥寥无几所引起的。特别报告员发现在太平洋区和大西洋区之间在种族、社会及经济方面的鸿沟。太平洋区继续以梅斯蒂索混血儿——有一些土著社区——为主,有一定程度的发展,而大西洋区的居民主要是土著人民和非洲裔人民,他们孤立和缺乏基础设施。尼加拉瓜象危地马拉和洪都拉斯那样,贫穷、经济落后和社会边缘化地区与认为自己受到歧视的人口的地域分配相符合。由于北大西洋区和南大西洋区获得了自治权,这两个区建立了体制基础,使其人民能够规划和自行发展,但由于联邦政府提供的财政资源不足,未能充分享有这种权力下放的好处。

考虑到尼加拉瓜内部冲突后二十多年来所面临的经济困境和遭受的自然灾害,特别报告员认为政府应证明它愿意听取民意,今后确认人民受到歧视的客观事实,并在文化、经济和社会等各领域予以处理,为此制订一个国家方案,打击种族主义及种族歧视和建立民主、平等和互动的多元文化社会。大西洋自治区的领导人和人民应加强进行对话,以查明需要优先干预和拨供充分资源的经济和社会部门。特别报告员还认为给予土著人民土地权的过程应考虑到其风俗习惯,并通过谈判,保证不侵犯其利益和祖传权利。在这方面,政府应考虑批准和执行劳工组织关于独立国家土著和部族人民公约(第 169 号)。

Annex

REPORT OF THE SPECIAL RAPPORTEUR ON CONTEMPORARY FORMS OF RACISM, RACIAL DISCRIMINATION, XENOPHOBIA AND RELATED INTOLERANCE, MR. DOUDOU DIÈNE, ON HIS MISSION TO NICARAGUA (9 TO 13 JULY 2004)

CONTENTS

		Paragraphs	Page
Introduction		1 - 2	5
I.	GENERAL OVERVIEW	3 - 10	5
	A. Ethnic and demographic situation	3	5
	B. Political and social context	4 - 10	6
II.	POLITICAL AND LEGAL STRATEGY AND INSTITUTIONAL FRAMEWORK	11- 13	7
	A. Institutional multiculturalism	11	7
	B. Legal and institutional framework for efforts to combat racism and racial discrimination	12 - 13	7
III.	PRESENTATION OF THEIR SITUATION BY THE POPULATION GROUPS CONCERNED	14 - 20	8
	A. Economic and social marginalization of the Atlantic coast regions	14 - 16	8
	B. Concerns relating to protection of land rights and the implementation of a bilingual intercultural education programme	17 - 20	9
IV.	ANALYSIS AND EVALUATION OF THE POLITICAL AND LEGAL STRATEGY AND THE INSTITUTIONAL FRAMEWORK	21 - 23	10
V.	CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	24 - 26	11

Introduction

- 1. The Special Rapporteur visited Nicaragua from 9 to 13 July 2004. In Managua he met the Minister for Foreign Affairs, Mr. Norman Caldera Cardenal, the Deputy Minister of the Interior, Mr. Miguel Ángel García, and senior officials of the Ministries of Education, Health and Labour. He also met the Presidential Adviser on Atlantic Coast Affairs, Mr. Carlos Hurtado, as well as the Special Procurator for Indigenous Peoples and Ethnic Communities, Mr. Norman Bent. He then travelled to Puerto Cabezas (Bilwi for the local people), the capital of the Atlántico Norte Autonomous Region, where he held meetings with the Regional Council led by Mr. Juan González. His journey to this region also offered an opportunity to visit residential areas and listen to representatives of the various communities living there, including the Miskitos, the Sumu-Mayagnas and the Creoles of African descent. Regrettably, lack of time prevented the Special Rapporteur from travelling to the Atlántico Sur Autonomous Region, whose capital is Bluefields, to study the dynamics of ethnic and racial relations among Creoles, Miskitos, Mestizos, Garifunas and Ramas. However, he was able to gain a general idea of the situation in the region from representatives of the communities living there who came to meet him in Puerto Cabezas and Managua, and from the report of the Centre for Human, Citizens' and Autonomy Rights he was given. The Special Rapporteur's second journey within Nicaragua took him to San Lucas, in the region of Somoto, north of Managua, where he held a meeting with representatives of indigenous people.
- 2. The Special Rapporteur thanks the Government of Nicaragua for its cooperation and for the willingness of its representatives to make themselves available. He is also grateful to the regional authorities and the representatives of civil society, in particular the representatives of the indigenous and Creole communities with whom he held meetings. He also expresses appreciation to the office of the United Nations Development Programme in Nicaragua, which coordinated the visit. However, he regrets that he was unable to meet all the representatives of United Nations agencies, as in Guatemala and Honduras. In the light of the meeting he held with the acting Coordinator of the United Nations system, he has doubts concerning the priority assigned to efforts to combat racial discrimination in the programmes of United Nations agencies.

I. GENERAL OVERVIEW

A. Ethnic and demographic situation

3. Nicaragua, which covers an area of 129,494 square kilometres, has a population of 5,359,759, generally divided into four groups: Mestizos (of mixed Amerindian and White descent) (69 per cent); Whites (17 per cent); Blacks (9 per cent); and Amerindians (5 per cent). The Amerindians are subdivided into six ethnic groups - the Miskitos (the largest group, with over 80,000 members), the Sumus-Mayangnas, the Ramas, the Matagalpas, the Chorotegas, the Maribios and the Nahuatlan. The Blacks are subdivided into Garifunas (2,000) and Creoles (around 30,000). The Amerindian and Black communities live mainly in the Atlántico Norte and Atlántico Sur autonomous regions, along Nicaragua's Caribbean coast, where almost 10 per cent of the country's population (500,000 inhabitants) is to be found. A few indigenous communities also live in the north-west.²

B. Political and social context

- 4. Between 1979 and 1990, Nicaragua experienced periods of revolution and counter-revolution which had a deep influence on the structure of the country's political life. Following the triumph of the Sandinist revolution in 1979, the rule of the socialist Sandinist National Liberation Front (FSLN) from 1979 to 1990 was marked by the counter-revolutionary war pursued by the Contras, with external support, principally from the United States of America, and sustained by the claims of the Miskitos, Sumus and Ramas in the Atlantic region for autonomy. The indigenous people of the Atlantic region, who were the main instrument of the counter-revolution, fiercely opposed the Sandinist authorities, rejecting the Sandinist Government's agrarian policy and demanding autonomy. The Sandinist Government finally agreed to negotiate with them during the peace process which began in 1984, and showed a readiness to listen to their demands. Settlement of the conflict resulted in guarantees of the rights of the indigenous peoples and other groups in the Atlantic region under the 1987 Constitution, and the creation of two autonomous regions, a largely Miskito one in the north and a largely Mestizo and Creole one in the south.
- 5. In 1990, the FSLN lost power to a coalition of centre-right parties. A difficult process of reconciliation between Sandinists, the democratic opposition and the Contras followed, marked by brief returns to rebellion by the Contras. The consolidation of democracy in Nicaragua continued with the presidential elections of 1996 and 2001. President Enrique Bolaños, of the Constitutional Liberal Party, won the most recent elections under the banner of a "New era", during which he promises the people of Nicaragua progress towards greater well-being, overcoming poverty and improving health and education. This new era is also to be devoted to building a new relationship between the State and its citizens, based on a political and social ethic whose main pillars are justice for all, representative government, effective participation by the people, transparency and solidarity with the least well-off. Significant initiatives have been launched in the area of respect for human rights, in particular by enhancing the independence of the system of justice.
- 6. In Nicaragua, the social, economic and political rift between the Pacific and Atlantic regions is a reality, for historical and cultural reasons and also because of more recent factors such as the Sandinist revolution mentioned above, foreign influences and economic interests and ethnic demands. Between the seventeenth and nineteenth centuries, the Atlantic coast of what was to become Nicaragua was under English influence, and from 1633 onwards the Miskitos became the allies of the English in their struggle against the Spanish settlements on the Atlantic coast. In order to gain the sympathies of the Miskitos, the English went so far as to crown a Miskito king and establish a protectorate along the Atlantic coast to enable them to control the region's natural resources. In 1860, the British signed the Treaty of Managua with Nicaragua and dropped their claims along the Atlantic coast, leaving a kind of indigenous autonomous area there. The Miskitos' strong sense of autonomy and the penetration of English-speaking culture which is characteristic of the Atlantic regions date from this period. Only in 1884 were the Atlantic regions formally incorporated into Nicaragua.
- 7. While the Mestizos are overwhelmingly Catholic, most of the members of the other ethnic groups belong to Protestant churches, notably the Moravian Protestant Church, which played a role with British administrators in shaping the institutions of the Atlantic coast.⁴

- 8. Among these peoples of Amerindian origin, only the Miskitos and Sumus-Mayangnas still use their ancestral language. Nowadays the members of the Miskito community are very active politically and work together in the Yatama political party.
- 9. The succession of natural disasters between 1988 and 1998, including Hurricane Mitch, which devastated most of Nicaragua's economic infrastructure and further impoverished the country, have not made the implementation of development programmes any easier.
- 10. In analysing the situation in Nicaragua, it must also be remembered that because of its strategic position between North and South America, Nicaragua has often been the focus of struggles for domination and occupation between the Spanish and British colonial Powers, and later American interests.

II. POLITICAL AND LEGAL STRATEGY AND INSTITUTIONAL FRAMEWORK

A. Institutional multiculturalism

11. Article 8 of Nicaragua's Constitution acknowledges the multi-ethnic character of the country, and guarantees specific rights for the indigenous peoples. These are recognized in article 5 of the 1995 Constitution (Partial Reform) Act. Regional autonomy for these peoples, which resulted from the political process of the 1980s, marked by the claims and struggles of the peoples of the Atlantic coast, has also been enshrined in the Constitution, thus consolidating significant progress as regards ethnic collective rights. Under articles 89 to 91 of the Constitution, the communities of the Atlantic coast have the right to preserve and develop their cultural identity and adopt their own forms of social organization, and to administer their affairs in accordance with their traditions. The State also recognizes the communal land ownership practised by these communities and their right to enjoy the flora, fauna and waters of their region. Article 91 underlines the State's duty to enact legislation aimed at protecting all Nicaraguans from discrimination based on language, culture or origin. Article 121 provides that "the communities of the Atlantic Coast region shall have access in their region to education in their mother tongue, at the levels to be determined in accordance with national plans and programmes". Previously, language legislation had been adopted in 1982, and in 1984 the Government had set up a Bilingual Intercultural Education Programme (PEBI).

B. Legal and institutional framework for efforts to combat racism and racial discrimination

- 12. Above and beyond the provisions of the Constitution concerning the rights of indigenous peoples and ethnic communities, and the provisions of various laws on autonomy for the Atlantic regions, articles 549 and 550 of the Criminal Code prohibit and punish acts committed by individuals or groups, as well as the giving of orders, likely to lead to genocide. There is no general law prohibiting racial discrimination which contains provisions to combat discriminatory acts committed by State officials or private individuals.
- 13. Various institutions ensure protection of human rights: in 1999, the office of Procurator for Human Rights was established. The Procurator has the power to receive complaints from persons who consider that their human rights have been violated by State officials. In particular,

he ensures respect for the rights of the indigenous peoples and ethnic communities in the Atlantic coast regions. In 2003, the Procurator received 528 complaints from individuals and groups living in the Atlantico Norte and Atlantico Sur regions. These complaints mostly related to failure by the State to respect economic, social and cultural rights (social security, the right to health, the right to food, the right to culture, the right to housing, provision of basic services and the right to education), as well as the violation of property rights. ⁵

III. PRESENTATION OF THEIR SITUATION BY THE POPULATION GROUPS CONCERNED

A. Economic and social marginalization of the Atlantic coast regions

- 14. Generally speaking, the inhabitants of these regions consider their marginalized situation is the result of centuries-long discrimination at the hands of the central government and the dominant classes. Economic and social indicators for the region reveal large disparities compared with those for the Pacific region. These people remember that both before and since independence, the mines, plantations and fisheries in their regions have been exploited to the benefit of the Pacific regions or foreign companies, and to the detriment of their economic and social development.
- The main demands of the inhabitants of Nicaragua's autonomous regions 15. (Atlántico Norte and Atlántico Sur) have to do with failure to apply the laws and regulations related to autonomy and the failure of the central government to allocate the financial resources needed for the development of their regions. Consequently, they denounce what they term a "fictitious autonomy" which stems from the fact that the central administrative authorities ignore proposals made by the autonomous regions and do not involve them in the adoption of decisions which concern them. Their representatives emphasize the complete lack of any linkage between the central government's policies and the operation and management of the regional councils, and consider that the failure to allocate the resources needed for their activities is a lever used by the Government to impose its own decisions. In particular, this lack of linkage halted all activity by the regional council in the Atlántico Sur region over a period of more than eight months in 2003. The representatives also point out that regional autonomy still remains to a large extent subject to interference from the central government in the drafting and funding of economic and social development plans. They stress that they are excluded from decision-making concerning the use of their regions' resources, despite the fact that the Constitution and the autonomy law acknowledge their ownership rights over communal land and their right to benefit from resources deriving from fauna and flora.
- 16. The following facts illustrate the economic and social marginalization of the Atlantic coast regions:
 - The human development index for the Atlántico Norte and Atlántico Sur regions is the lowest in the country, and this is reflected in the maternal mortality rate:
 362 maternal deaths per 100,000 live births, compared with 110 per 100,000 countrywide; almost 70 per cent of the population is classified as poor;

- Out of 5,398 primary schools in the country, only 200 are located in the two regions, and the illiteracy rate is 40 per cent against 23 per cent for the country as a whole; despite the existence of programmes of multilingual education incorporating local languages, very little use is made of these languages and instruction in Spanish predominates;
- Health infrastructure is also inadequate, so much so that patients suffering from serious illnesses have to be transported by helicopter to hospitals in the Pacific region;
- Basic equipment and services are also largely inadequate in these regions: provision of drinking water stands at only 16.2 per cent in the Atlántico Norte Autonomous Region and 24 per cent in the Atlántico Sur Autonomous Region, against 60-70 per cent in the Pacific regions; and while the Atlántico Sur Autonomous Region possesses at least 225.3 kilometres of tarred roads, the Atlántico Norte Autonomous Region has almost no roads of this type and is inaccessible from Managua.

B. Concerns relating to protection of land rights and the implementation of a bilingual intercultural education programme

- 17. One of the major concerns of the population both in the North and in the South is protection of their communal land rights. Despite the adoption of law No. 445 relating to the communal property regime for the indigenous peoples and ethnic communities in the autonomous regions of Nicaragua's Atlantic coast and the rivers Bocay, Coco, Indio and Maíz, the representatives of these groups emphasized that the lack of proper demarcation of communal land jeopardizes their land rights. The Intersectoral Commission responsible for demarcation and granting of titles is unable to perform its role for lack of financial and human resources. The frequent intrusions into their land by settlers who mostly come from the Pacific regions, the allocation of land to Contras and former fighters in the Sandinist revolution and the granting of forestry or mining licences to companies without local consultation or consent constitute serious infringements of these land rights. The case of the Awastingni community was cited in this regard: on 13 March 1996, the Government granted the Korean company Solcarsa 62,000 hectares of forest to exploit, without obtaining the agreement of the Sumu-Mayagna peoples who claimed ownership, and in breach of the regional autonomy law. The population groups then appealed to the domestic courts and the Inter-American Court of Human Rights. On 31 August 2001, the Court ruled in favour of these groups, finding that the State of Nicaragua had violated the ownership rights of the people concerned, and called for the suspension of all exploitation of the area of the grant and the start of negotiations with the local people with the aim of reaching agreement on delimitation and recognition of their land titles. The land in dispute has not yet been delimited. A number of violent confrontations between settlers and indigenous people, leading to fatalities, have also taken place in the Atlántico Norte and Atlántico Sur autonomous regions.⁶
- 18. The representatives of the autonomous regions expressed regret that the presidential adviser on Atlantic coast affairs was not from the region, and emphasized the fact that coastal people were largely unrepresented in the central administration.

- 19. Above and beyond the situations described by the indigenous peoples in the Atlantic regions, the representatives of the peoples of Somoto region whom the Rapporteur also met complained to him of the violation of their land rights. The Litelpaneca indigenous people, for example, denounced the appropriation of their land with the complicity of the police and underlined that the administrative and judicial remedies they had used to recover their rights had proved ineffective. They called for the removal of the Los Ranchos and El Limón farms which had been established on their land by individuals belonging to the former Contra resistance with local connivance. These peoples considered that Nicaragua's failure to ratify ILO Convention No. 169 on indigenous and tribal peoples constituted a further obstacle to meeting their claims to land.
- 20. Despite the existence of the Bilingual Intercultural Education Programme, the persons consulted by the Special Rapporteur emphasized that the funds needed had not been allocated, so that the educational and human resources required for the implementation of the programme were lacking. In addition, the dominant teaching model remains instruction in Spanish. The Regional Autonomous System of Education, devised by the Atlántico Norte and Atlántico Sur regional councils in accordance with the Constitution and legislation on education, culture and languages (see paragraph 11 above), has not yet been approved by Parliament.

IV. ANALYSIS AND EVALUATION OF THE POLITICAL AND LEGAL STRATEGY AND THE INSTITUTIONAL FRAMEWORK

- 21. By acknowledging its ethnic diversity and granting it the protection of the law and an institutional framework, Nicaragua has taken a major step towards multiculturalism and the management of ethnic and racial pluralism. Yet the legislation and the institutions, which lack the resources they need for implementation and operation, have not succeeded in making regional autonomy a viable reality which merits recognition by the local people. It seems that the autonomy granted to the Atlantic coast regions is not always favourably viewed by Nicaragua's central authorities, some of which regard it as a burdensome legacy of Sandinist policy, sustaining the separatist aspirations of the coastal people or efforts to strengthen the English-speaking identity to the detriment of the dominant Hispanic culture. There is also the perception of Mestizo ethnocentrism on the part of the peoples of the Atlantic coast, which is said to account for the neglect of economic and social development in their region.
- 22. Despite the deep historical roots of racial discrimination, its pervasiveness in contemporary society and its clear daily manifestations, the Special Rapporteur considers that there is no clear recognition of this reality by the political authorities and the dominant classes. The failure to recognize the reality of racial discrimination and its pervasiveness throughout the society is therefore a major initial obstacle to efforts to confront this problem directly and objectively and find a lasting solution.
- 23. The Special Rapporteur was particularly struck by the lack of an intellectual and ethical strategy to combat racism and discrimination. Neither the structure nor the content of Nicaragua's system of education has been subjected to deconstruction with a view to analysing the history of racism, its origin, its mechanisms, its process, its expressions and manifestations. History, for example, which is the workshop for the discriminatory and racist construction of identities, does not appear to have been revisited, either in its written form or in the way in which it is taught. The mirror of identity, reflected by the media, ensures that indigenous people and

people of African descent remain historically invisible as part of the heritage of discrimination and racism. The system of dominant values marginalizes the traditional cultural and spiritual values and practices of these groups. The task of building genuine multiculturalism, egalitarian, interactive and democratic, therefore constitutes a major challenge for Nicaraguan society.

V. CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

- 24. The Special Rapporteur, while aware of the absence of institutional racial discrimination and the progress made in multiculturalism in Nicaragua, wishes to make the following recommendations designed to maintain the momentum of the planned reforms and open up new prospects for enhanced participation by the various ethnic groups:
- (a) Taking into account the perceptions of the population groups which consider themselves victims of discrimination, the Government should at the highest level formally recognize the existence of racial discrimination and make a commitment to combating it; this would give a strong moral and political signal to the population groups involved and the country as a whole;
- (b) The Government of Nicaragua should make a firmer commitment to combating racial discrimination, particularly by developing in a democratic manner, with the participation of the communities concerned, a global programme of action against racism and racial discrimination and for the building of a multicultural, egalitarian, democratic and interactive society inspired by the Durban Declaration and Programme of Action. This programme, while taking account of progress towards multiculturalism, should include effective measures for the representation of the ethnic and indigenous communities within State bodies, to counter the profound consequences of racial discrimination in the areas of education, health and housing; a programme of positive discrimination to the benefit of the indigenous and Afro-Nicaraguan peoples should form the core of this global programme of action;
- (c) Efforts to combat racism and racial discrimination should be based on an information policy targeted on the population groups suffering discrimination, as much in relation to their rights and the remedies available as on the Government's policies and programmes; in this context, the population groups should be informed of the Government's international commitments in the sphere of human rights and efforts to combat racism, through the extensive dissemination of the relevant international instruments, the final document adopted in Durban and the periodic reports submitted by the Government to the Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination (CERD); in relation to the media and their impact on the shaping of perceptions, the Special Rapporteur recommends that the media should adopt a code of conduct and ensure that Nicaragua's ethnic diversity is reflected both in their programmes and in their leadership and management structures; the State and the media should vigorously encourage the establishment of local and community media;
- (d) The specialized agencies of the United Nations should assign efforts to combat racism and racial discrimination a central place in their projects and programmes in Nicaragua and provide assistance in the drawing up of the global programme of action against discrimination; special support should be given to governmental projects which

contribute to the development of the Atlantic regions; the fields of competence of the agencies and organizations of the United Nations system are the social vectors of discrimination and racism: work, environment, land, education, health, culture, etc.;

- (e) The Government should take the necessary steps to speed up the process of demarcation of communal land and restore property rights to the affected groups, including those in Litelpaneca;
- (f) The Government should initiate the process of accession to ILO Convention No. 169 on indigenous and tribal peoples with a view to better safeguarding the land rights of such peoples; the law on the communal property regime should be effectively implemented, in particular through effective demarcation of communal land, by providing the Intersectoral Commission responsible for demarcation and granting of titles with the necessary human and financial resources;
- (g) The Bilingual Intercultural Education Programme should be effectively implemented, in particular as regards its educational and human resources, through the allocation of the requisite funds. In this context, the Parliament should adopt the necessary legislative measures for the proper operation of the Regional Autonomous System of Education devised by the Atlántico Norte and Atlántico Sur regional councils.

Recommendations at the regional level

- Efforts to combat racism and racial discrimination should take into account the 25. regional dimension in Central America, where the societies share not only demographic, ethnic and cultural similarities, but above all a historical heritage of racism and discrimination, amplified by present-day political violence. The countries of this region are also characterized by movements of population groups which are victims of discriminatory practices to various degrees in the different countries. The Special Rapporteur consequently recommends that the Organization of American States (OAS), and in particular the Inter-American Commission on Human Rights, should assign a central role in peace-building to the thoroughgoing eradication of racism and racial discrimination with a view to building democratic, egalitarian and interactive multiculturalism in the region. OAS should support the efforts of the Central American States by means of studies on the shaping of multi-ethnic identities and the manifestations of phenomena as well as assistance in the drafting of coordinated domestic and regional legislation, the strengthening of institutions for the protection of human rights and civil society, and the revision of educational and media programmes and systems.
- 26. OAS should also promote intercultural tourism centred on the following elements: the existence of a shared physical heritage, the vitality of authentic cultural and spiritual practices and forms of expression and their profound interactions in time and space. Intercultural tourism can make it possible to combat discrimination through the rehabilitation of identities that have historically been denied or scorned, to check the tendency inherent in modern mass tourism to treat culture as folklore, and to foster the fundamental link between land and culture, land and origins, which lies at the heart of the demands made by the indigenous communities and those of African descent.

Notes

- ¹ Centro de Derechos Humanos, Ciudadanos y Autonómicos (CEDEHCA) (Centre for Human, Citizens' and Autonomy Rights), "Situación de los derechos humanos y autonómicos de pueblos indígenas, pueblos des ascendencia africana y mestizos del Caribe Nicaragüense" (Status of the human and autonomy rights of indigenous peoples, people of African descent and Mestizos in the Caribbean region of Nicaragua), *Informe anual 2003 (Annual Report 2003)*.
- ² The Government provided the Special Rapporteur with these approximate data, but pointed out that the National Institute of Statistics and Censuses will introduce the ethnic variable into the census of the population and living conditions in 2005 so that more precise figures can be gathered. Consultations are under way on this matter with the ethnic groups and indigenous peoples concerned. The data on the autonomous regions were supplied by CEDEHCA.
- ³ Inaugural speech by President Enrique Bolaños, 10 January 2002.
- ⁴ Moravian Protestant beliefs became established along the Atlantic coast from the nineteenth century onwards, as a result of the activities of German missionaries.
- ⁵ Cf. Informe anual de la Procuraduría para la defensa de los derechos humanos (Annual report of the Procurator for the Defence of Human Rights), Managua, 2003, p. 81.
- ⁶ Incursions and conflicts have been reported in the municipalities of La Cruz de Río Grande and Prinzapolca, in the areas of Rama Cay, Monkey Point and Wawashang.
